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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 

EASTERN DISTRICT OF TENNESSEE 

CHATTANOOGA 

 

RONALD ALAN CUMMINS,   § 

      § 

   Plaintiff,  § 

      § No. 1:22-cv-119-TRM-CHS 

~v~      § 

      § JURY DEMAND 

CITY OF EAST RIDGE,    § 

      § 

OFFICER TEDDY DYER,   § 

(AKA “T DYER, badge # 551”)   § 

In his capacity as a police officer  §  

for City of East Ridge, and   § 

in his individual capacity, and   § 

      § 

OFFICER CANDICE “CANDY” MILLER,  § 

In her capacity as a police officer  §  

for City of East Ridge, and   § 

in her individual capacity,   § 

      § 

   Defendants.  § 

 

AMENDED COMPLAINT1 

 

PLAINTIFF, for his causes of action, will show the Court: 

Introduction: 

1. This is an action for money damages brought pursuant to 42 U.S.C. §§ 1983 and 

1988 to redress the deprivation of rights secured to Plaintiff by the First, Fourth, and Fourteenth 

Amendments to the United States Constitution and for violations of the laws of the State of 

Tennessee by the Defendants.  

2. Plaintiff avers that the individually named defendants2, Officer Teddy Dyer, aka 

“T. Dyer badge # 551” (“Dyer”), and Officer Candice “Candy” Miller (“Miller”), acted as 

 
1 All further references to “Complaint” hereinafter shall be to “Amended Complaint.”  
2 The term, “individual defendants,” when used herein, shall refer collectively to Dyer and Miller.  
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agents, and law enforcement officers employed by the City of East Ridge (“City”) and were at all 

times relevant to this matter acting under color of law and under color of their offices with the 

City. To be sure, at all times relevant to this lawsuit, the individual defendants wore the uniforms 

of East Ridge police officers and occupied a motor vehicle with blues lights and markings of the 

East Ridge Police Department.  

3. Plaintiff maintains that the individual defendants committed these violations, 

further set forth herein, because of policies, customs, practices, and/or procedures of the City.  

4. In addition, Plaintiff avers the individual defendants’ acts and omissions subjected 

Plaintiff to mental anguish, emotional distress, humiliation, physical injuries, and required 

Plaintiff to incur the cost of an attorney to defend false claims of criminal conduct and the cost of 

emergency medical treatment.  

Jurisdiction and Venue: 

5. This is an action to redress the Defendants’ deprivation of rights secured to the 

Plaintiff by the First, Fourth, and Fourteenth Amendments to the United States Constitution and 

for violations of Tennessee state law.  

6. The Defendants properly removed this matter from the Hamilton County Circuit 

Court to this Court on May 17, 2022. (Doc. 1, and Doc, 1-1). Jurisdiction and venue are thus 

proper and not disputed by the Defendants.  

The Parties3: 

Plaintiff: 

 
3 Plaintiff has described the individual defendants in previous paragraphs. 

Case 1:22-cv-00119-TRM-CHS   Document 25   Filed 08/16/22   Page 2 of 20   PageID #: 152



~ 3 ~ 
 

7. At all times relevant to this cause of action, Plaintiff was a citizen of the United 

States and a resident and citizen of the State of Tennessee and a resident and citizen of Hamilton 

County, Tennessee.  

City: 

8.  At all times relevant to this cause of action, the City was a political sub-division 

of the State of Tennessee organized and existing under the laws of the State of Tennessee.  

a. The City finances its law enforcement department identified and averred 

as the East Ridge Police Department (“department”) and provides rules 

and regulations for the operation of the department.  

b. The City provides oversight of the hiring, training, discipline, supervision, 

and retention of all personnel in its department.  

9. At all times relevant to this cause of action, the City is responsible for the creation 

and maintenance of its department, which is a law enforcement agency created under Tennessee 

state law and regulated by the laws of the State of Tennessee as to: 

a. The safe and humane treatment of all persons taken into custody of its law 

enforcement employees and to not treat such persons with unnecessary 

rigor. 

b. The training and certification of its law enforcement employees in all 

areas of law enforcement, including but not limited to arrests of persons.  

c. The continued safety of persons detained or otherwise within the custody 

of its law enforcement employees. 

d. Properly and promptly investigate claims of misconduct by its law 

enforcement employees.   
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10. Plaintiff brings this action against the City.  

11. At all times relevant to this cause of action, the City employed the individual 

defendants. These individual defendants acted under the color of their respective offices and 

under the color of law, statute, ordinance, regulation, custom, or usage of the City. In addition:  

a. At all times relevant to this cause of action, these individual defendants 

acted in their official capacities as employees for the City as defined under 

TENN. CODE ANN. § 29-20-102. 

b.  Plaintiff sues these individual defendants in their individual and official 

capacities. 

Factual Basis 

Individual Defendants’ Actions: 

 12. On July 31, 2021, the individual defendants occupied one police car while on duty 

on US Highway 41 in the corporate limits of the City. Dyer was the driver of the police car.  

 13. The individual defendants stopped a black male motorist Dyer identified in a 

police report as Gerado Benitez for violations of Tennessee state law while Benitez operated a 

Audi A4.  

14. The individual defendants completed their investigation of Benitez, had 

completed issuing citations to him, and awaited the arrival of a tow truck to remove the Audi A4 

from the roadside.  

 15. The individual defendants were seated in their police car speaking with Benitez 

who was standing on the pavement outside the front passenger window. Dyer and Miller then 

questioned Benitez as to why he was in East Ridge. Dyer was in the driver seat of the police car, 

drinking a cold drink when the Plaintiff approached the individual defendants.  
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 16. Plaintiff approached the individual defendants from the right side of the police 

car, and was next to Benitez when Miller asked Plaintiff, “can we help you?” 

17. Plaintiff inquired of the individual defendants what they were doing with Benitez.  

a. At no time was the Plaintiff loud, rude, nor was he presenting 

himself in any threatening manner whatsoever and at no time did he ever 

present himself as a threat to the individual defendants.  

b. Plaintiff was 70 years of age at the time, and the individual 

defendants were much younger than Plaintiff.  

18. Dyer replied that what the individual defendants were doing was “none of your 

business.”  

19. Miller told Plaintiff to leave.  

20. Plaintiff then stated: “I remember what happened to George Floyd,” and Dyer 

retorted, “I don’t care.” 

21. Immediately thereafter, as Plaintiff began to walk away as directed by Miller, 

Dyer hurriedly exited the police car and aggressively approached the Plaintiff, pointing his index 

finger at the Plaintiff, and angrily yelled: “Sir, I’m going to give you some help!” 

22. By this point, Plaintiff was more than 15 feet away from the back of the police 

car, and was walking away from the police car, the individual defendants, and Benitez.  

23. Dyer continued his abusive comments to Plaintiff, coming within inches of 

Plaintiff’s face, and pointing his index finger at Plaintiff while stating in his angry and 

confrontational manner: “you go take care of your business and stay away from my traffic stop 

or you’re going to jail.” By this point, Plaintiff was well away from Dyer’s traffic stop before 

Dyer stopped Plaintiff.  
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24. Plaintiff then turn and faced Dyer as Dyer addressed Plaintiff. Plaintiff told Dyer 

that Plaintiff did not appreciate Dyer speaking to him in the manner as described herein and told 

Dyer to not talk in that manner to Plaintiff.  

 25. Without warning and in a fit of rage, Dyer grabbed Plaintiff and threw Plaintiff 

hard onto the pavement by a “leg sweep.”  

26. Miller approached Dyer as Dyer continued his assault upon Plaintiff. Miller did 

nothing to stop Dyer’s attack upon Plaintiff.  

 27. Dyer told Plaintiff he was under arrest, and when Plaintiff asked for what, Dyer 

rattled off the following: “disorderly; interrupting my traffic stop, and obstruction of justice.” 

 28. Dyer was on top of Plaintiff as Plaintiff lay face down on the hard pavement.  

29. Miller added to the assault by pushing on the Plaintiff’s back forcing the Plaintiff 

harder onto the pavement while Dyer, with Miller’s help, handcuffed the Plaintiff’s hands behind 

his back. The joint actions of Miller and Dyer caused the Plaintiff great pain, discomfort, and 

increased the Plaintiff’s risk to a sudden cardiac event and positional asphyxiation, and required 

Plaintiff to receive medical treatment.  

 30. At no time did Miller make any attempt to stop Dyer’s assault upon the Plaintiff. 

At no time did Plaintiff make any actions to attack, hurt, or physically resist the individual 

defendants.  

31. The individual defendants led Plaintiff to their police car and transported the 

Plaintiff to the East Ridge police station.  

a. To be sure, the individual defendants transported the Plaintiff to the City 

police station where Plaintiff experienced chest pain.  
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b. EMS and the East Ridge Fire Department arrived at the station upon 

Plaintiff’s request, whereupon EMS transported Plaintiff to the hospital.  

c. Before Plaintiff was taken to the hospital, Dyer informed Plaintiff that he 

(Dyer) would “be taking out a warrant for his4 arrest.”  

 32. Dyer authored a false affidavit of complaint in support of the aforementioned 

warrant wherein he made false claims about the Plaintiff to justify his and Miller’s unlawful 

actions. These claims in the said affidavit are contradicted by irrefutable video evidence obtained 

by the Plaintiff’s criminal defense attorney, Fisher Wise, Esq.  

 33.  Dyer falsely charged Plaintiff with “Obstruction” and cited “TCA 39-16-602.” 

Dyer brought this false charge by perjuring himself while under oath and before a City Court 

clerk (Patricia Cassidy) in an Affidavit of Complaint. The said clerk is a court officer with the 

authority to sign arrest warrants. Dyer signed the Affidavit of Complaint on August 2, 2022.  

a. “TCA 39-16-602,” which is Tenn. Code Ann. § 38-16-602, reads as 

follows: 

(a)  It is an offense for a person to intentionally prevent or obstruct anyone known to the 

person to be a law enforcement officer, or anyone acting in a law enforcement officer's 

presence and at the officer’s direction, from effecting a stop, frisk, halt, arrest or search of 

any person, including the defendant, by using force against the law enforcement officer 

or another. 

(b)  Except as provided in § 39-11-611, it is no defense to prosecution under this section 

that the stop, frisk, halt, arrest or search was unlawful. 

(c)  It is an offense for a person to intentionally prevent or obstruct an officer of the state 

or any other person known to be a civil process server in serving, or attempting to serve 

or execute, any legal writ or process. 

(d)  A violation of this section is a Class B misdemeanor unless the defendant uses a 

deadly weapon to resist the stop, frisk, halt, arrest, search or process server, in which 

event the violation is a Class A misdemeanor. 

 
4 Plaintiff.  

Case 1:22-cv-00119-TRM-CHS   Document 25   Filed 08/16/22   Page 7 of 20   PageID #: 157



~ 8 ~ 
 

34. On or about September 2, 2021, Patricia Cassidy emailed Plaintiff and verified 

that the criminal charge brought by Dyer was dismissed. Also from the email, it appears the 

dismissal was made without conditions. To be sure, none of the facts stated in Dyer’s false 

affidavit of complaint or as seen in the video of the incident supports any probable cause for a 

charge of violating “TCA 39-16-602” as Dyer claimed. 

a.  In the video of this event, Dyer is heard speaking with other officers that 

he called “for back up” about what to charge Plaintiff. Dyer and the other 

unidentified East Ridge officer[s] are heard ruminating about various aspect of the 

statute, including “obstruction” of a legal writ, which under “TCA 39-16-602” 

deals only with civil process.  

35. The acts and omissions of the individual defendants were the direct and proximate 

cause of the Plaintiff’s injuries that required and continues to require medical care; caused 

Plaintiff’s humiliation; exposed Plaintiff to serious bodily injury and death; and required Plaintiff 

to hire an attorney to defend against the false claims.  

Factual Basis 

East Ridge Policies/Customs: 

36. On information and belief, Plaintiff’s unlawful treatment at the hands of the 

individual defendants was not unique, but rather a part of a policy and/or custom in place that 

encouraged, condoned and/or ratified the practice of remaining silent and refusing to intervene 

when other law enforcement personnel use excessive and unnecessary force. In addition, this 

wall of silence extended to the City court with Dyer’s perjury as noted in his affidavit of 

complaint.  
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a. Recent video of an interaction between East Ridge police and a black male 

identified as Anthony Wright (“Wright”) shows what appears to be East Ridge 

police using unreasonable force upon Wright. 

b. Police Chief Stan Allen (“Allen”) made public comments to News Channel 9 in 

support of the officers almost the very next day, well short of any time to conduct 

a meaningful internal affairs investigation.  

c. Allen further stated to News Channel 9 the following about Matthew Gilbride, a 

white male who recorded the incident: 

 “The behavior of the guy that was taking the video was making things worse. And 

people are absolutely allowed to video, police officers doing their jobs, as long as they 

don't interfere.” 

 

d. Taken as true Allen’s very public comments reveals that he will support his officers 

regarding police misconduct without first investigating. Allen’s comments about Gilbride 

reveals a mentality of the head of the department that those who record police 

misconduct are somehow to blame for the actions of abusive police officers.  

e. To be sure, Gilbride was standing away from the incident while making comments to the 

police to handcuff Wright and not taser Wright. At no time in the video by Gilbride ever 

approach or actively “interfere” with the officers as Allen stated in the News Channel 9 

interview.  

f. On August 3, 2022, office staff of Plaintiff’s counsel received and opened an 

unsolicited letter signed by “Night Shift” and its envelope bearing the address of 

the East Ridge Police Department. The contents of the letter include, but is not 

limited to the following claims: 
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 i. “The following day or so later, Officer Dyer watched the body camera 

footage of the arrest with Assistant Chief Clint Uselton in AC Usleton’s office.”  

 ii. “The body camera recordings are hosted by Motorola, and each member 

of administration can log into the system to review videos. Upon doing so, 

Motorola logs and date stamps any review of downloaded footage and documents 

who views it.”  

 iii. “Assistant Chief Uselton was aware of Officer Dyer’s bogus arrest of Mr. 

Cummins shortly after it occurred, and he took no action. By doing so he 

approved of this type of behavior which currently infests the department.”  

37. The individual defendants in this lawsuit remain on duty without repercussion, 

and thus it appears that the City has condoned the unlawful actions as set forth herein, and this 

lack of supervision and discipline is tantamount to deliberate indifference of the rights of the 

Plaintiff and is a direct and proximate cause of the Plaintiff’s injuries, humiliation, and his claims 

as set forth in this Complaint.  

a. To be sure, no one in a supervisory or internal affairs role from the City 

ever contacted Plaintiff to conduct any form of internal affairs 

investigation, even after the dismissal of the criminal charge brought by 

Dyer.  

Count One:  

Violation of Civil Rights Under 

Color of Law 42 U.S.C. §1983 – 

Unreasonable Seizure by Excessive Force 

 

38. Plaintiff incorporates all the prior averments in the previous paragraphs as if fully 

set forth herein.  
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39. The force the individual defendants used against Plaintiff amounted to unlawful 

force that carried a high risk of causing serious and life-threatening bodily harm and death, was 

unnecessary and unreasonable under the circumstances and was the direct and proximate cause 

of Plaintiff’s injuries both physical and mental, needless suffering, and cost of a criminal defense 

and medical treatment.  

40. No reasonable law enforcement officer would have acted in this manner.  

41. Once the Plaintiff was in the joint custody of the individual defendants there 

existed a special relationship between the Plaintiff and the individual defendants, and they had a 

duty to protect the Plaintiff.  

42. The lack of oversight of the City, Stan Allen’s recent public comments, and if 

true, the current “infestation” of the City’s Police Department as averred herein, created, and 

helps to maintain an atmosphere that the individual defendants could act in the manner set forth 

herein, and thus not be punished in any significant way, if at all. 

43. The individual defendants acted under color of law and their negligence and 

intentional acts along with the deliberate indifference of the City deprived the Plaintiff of his 

rights secured to him under the Fourth and Fourteenth Amendments to United States 

Constitution to be free from unreasonable seizures of persons by excessive force and thus 

without Due Process of Law. 

44. Plaintiff sues the City and sues the individual defendants under this Count. 

Count Two:  

Violation of Civil Rights Under 

Color of Law 42 U.S.C. §1983 – 

Unreasonable Seizure by Lack of Probable Cause 

 

45. Plaintiff incorporates all the prior averments in the previous paragraphs as if fully 

set forth herein.  
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46. The individual defendants seized Plaintiff without probable cause as shown in the 

actions averred in this Complaint and the video of this event. The unlawful seizure was 

unnecessary and unreasonable under the circumstances and was the direct and proximate cause 

of Plaintiff’s injuries both physical and mental, needless suffering, and cost of a criminal defense 

and medical treatment.  

47. No reasonable law enforcement officer would have acted in this manner.  

48. Once the Plaintiff was in the joint custody of the individual defendants there 

existed a special relationship between the Plaintiff and the individual defendants, and they had a 

duty to protect the Plaintiff. 

49. The lack of oversight of the City, Stan Allen’s recent public comments, and if 

true, the current “infestation” of the City’s Police Department as averred herein, created, and 

helps to maintain an atmosphere that the individual defendants could act in the manner set forth 

herein, and thus not be punished in any significant way, if at all. 

50. The individual defendants acted under color of law and their negligence and 

intentional acts along with the deliberate indifference of the City deprived the Plaintiff of his 

rights secured to him under the Fourth and Fourteenth Amendments to United States 

Constitution to be free from unreasonable seizures of persons without probable cause and thus 

without Due Process of Law. 

51. Plaintiff sues the City and sues the individual defendants under this Count.  

Count Three: 

Violation of Civil Rights Under 

Color of Law 42 U.S.C. §1983 – 

Failure to Protect and Render Aid 

 

52. Plaintiff incorporates all the prior averments in the previous paragraphs as if fully 

set forth herein.  
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53. Each individual defendant had non-delegable duties to intervene and prevent 

his/her fellow defendant from using excessive force against the Plaintiff, from seizing Plaintiff 

without probable cause, and from initiating a criminal prosecution based upon false claims.  

54. The individual defendants had non-delegable duties to report the misconduct of 

their fellow defendant to the command staff of the City Police Department.  

55. Once the Plaintiff was in the joint custody of the individual defendants there 

existed a special relationship between the Plaintiff and all defendants, and they had a duty to 

protect the Plaintiff. 

 56. Once Plaintiff was in the custody of the individual defendants, they had an 

affirmative duty to protect Plaintiff from injury from one another, protect Plaintiff from seizure 

without probable cause, protect Plaintiff from criminal prosecution without probable cause, and 

to report the misconduct of their fellow co-defendant to those charged with the oversight of 

officer conduct. The individual defendants did not make any such reports as can be gleaned from 

the facts set forth in this Complaint.  

 57. The City had a non-delegable duty to ensure that it properly trained and 

supervised officers to intervene when fellow officers used excessive force, seized persons 

without probable cause, and brought false claims in efforts to prosecute persons. The City also 

had an affirmative duty to ensure that its officers were properly trained in the use of force and 

when and how they could seize persons, and to not bring a criminal prosecution based upon false 

claims.  

 58. The failure of the individual defendants to intervene and stop the other in their 

actions as set forth herein and their failure to report the misconduct of their fellow officer 

constituted a joint effort in which they participated as equals. 
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59. The lack of training, and supervision of the City, Stan Allen’s recent public 

comments, and if true, the current “infestation” of the City’s Police Department as averred 

herein, created, and helps to maintain an atmosphere that the individual defendants could act in 

the manner set forth herein, and thus not be punished in any significant way, if at all.  

60. The individual defendants acted under color of law and their negligence and 

intentional acts along with the deliberate indifference of the City deprived the Plaintiff of his 

rights secured to him under the Fourteenth Amendment to United States Constitution to be free 

from harm while in the custody of the individual defendants and the City.  

61. Plaintiff sues the City and the individual defendants under this Count. 

Count Four:  

Violation of Civil Rights Under 

Color of Law 42 U.S.C. §1983 – 

Deprivation of Due Process of Law-Malicious Prosecution 

 

62. Plaintiff incorporates all the prior averments in the previous paragraphs as if fully 

set forth herein.  

63. Defendant Dyer’s perjured testimony to obtain an affidavit of arrest began a 

criminal prosecution against Plaintiff and furthered the seizure of the Plaintiff.  

64. No reasonable officer would act in such a manner.  

65. The City had a non-delegable duty to ensure that it properly trained and 

supervised officers to ensure they refrain from committing perjury. 

66.  The lack of oversight of the City, Stan Allen’s recent public comments, and if 

true, the current “infestation” of the City’s Police Department as averred herein, created, and 

helps to maintain an atmosphere that the individual defendants could act in the manner set forth 

herein, and thus not be punished in any significant way, if at all. 
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67. The individual defendants acted under color of law and their negligence and 

intentional acts along with the deliberate indifference of the City deprived the Plaintiff of his 

rights secured to him under the Fourth and Fourteenth Amendments to United States 

Constitution to not be deprived of his freedom by way of false testimony and malicious 

prosecution. 

68. Miller’s silence and her acquiescence to Dyer’s claims in his perjured affidavit of 

complaint furthered Dyer’s false claims.  

68. Plaintiff sues the City and the individual defendants under this Count. 

Count Five:  

Violation of Civil Rights Under 

Color of Law 42 U.S.C. §1983 – 

Deprivation of Plaintiff’s Rights to Free Speech 

 

69. Plaintiff incorporates all the prior averments in the previous paragraphs as if fully 

set forth herein.  

70. Dyer’s conduct was in retaliation of Plaintiff’s comments about George Floyd and 

Plaintiff’s inquiries as to the individual defendants’ treatment of Benitez.  

71. Miller’s conduct was also in retaliation of Plaintiff’s comments about George 

Floyd and Plaintiff’s inquiries as to the individual defendants’ treatment of Benitez. 

72. No reasonable officer would act in such a manner.  

73. The City had a non-delegable duty to ensure that it properly trained and 

supervised officers to ensure they refrain from using their police powers to retaliate against 

citizens who are lawfully allowed to question police actions as set forth in the decision of the 

United States Supreme Court in Houston v. Hill, 482 U.S. 451 (1987).  

74.  The lack of oversight and training by the City and Stan Allen’s recent public 

comments as averred herein, created and helps to maintain an atmosphere that the individual 
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defendants could act in the manner set forth herein, and thus not be punished in any significant 

way, if at all. 

75. The individual defendants acted under color of law and their negligence and 

intentional acts along with the deliberate indifference of the City as depicted (in-part) by Stan 

Allen’s recent public comments, and if true, the current “infestation” of the City’s Police 

Department as averred herein, created, and atmosphere that allowed the individual defendants to 

act without restraint to deprive the Plaintiff of his rights secured to him under the First 

Amendment to United States Constitution of his freedom of speech.  

Count Six:  

Violation of Civil Rights Under 

Color of Law 42 U.S.C. §1983 – 

Conspiracy to Violate Civil Rights 

 

76. Plaintiff incorporates all the prior averments in the previous paragraphs as if fully 

set forth herein.  

77. The joint actions and omissions of the individual defendants as set forth herein 

resulted in the deprivation of Plaintiff’s rights to be free from unreasonable seizures by excessive 

force and lack of probable cause; to be free from malicious prosecution; the be free from 

deprivation of free speech; and to be free from deprivation of Due Process.  

78. No reasonable officer would act in such a manner.  

79. The City had a non-delegable duty to ensure that it properly trained and 

supervised officers to refrain from joint violations of civil rights by its law enforcement 

employees.  

80.  The lack of oversight of the City, Stan Allen’s recent public comments, and if 

true, the current “infestation” of the City’s Police Department as averred herein, created, and 
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helps to maintain an atmosphere that the individual defendants could act in the manner set forth 

herein, and thus not be punished in any significant way, if at all. 

81. The individual defendants acted under color of law and their negligence and 

intentional acts constituted a conspiracy to violate the Plaintiff’s civil rights as averred herein. 

The City’s deliberate indifference as averred herein was the driving force behind the individual 

defendants’ joint efforts as averred herein. 

82. Plaintiff sues the City and the individual defendants under this Count. 

Count Seven: 

Battery (state common law) 

 

83. Plaintiff incorporates all the prior averments in the previous paragraphs as if fully 

set forth herein.  

84. The individual defendants’ acts as averred in this Complaint, constituted a battery 

on Plaintiff’s person.  

 85. The individual defendants’ conduct was the direct and proximate cause of 

Plaintiff’s injuries both physical and mental, needless suffering, and loss of enjoyment of life.  

 86. Plaintiff sues the individual defendants under this Count. 

Count Eight: 

Assault (state common law) 

 

87. Plaintiff incorporates all the prior averments in the previous paragraphs as if fully 

set forth herein.  

88. The individual defendants’ acts as averred in this Complaint, constituted an 

assault on Plaintiff.  

 89. The individual defendants’ conduct was the direct and proximate cause of 

Plaintiff’s injuries both physical and mental, needless suffering, and loss of enjoyment of life.  
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 90. Plaintiff sues the individual defendants under this Count. 

Count Nine: 

Civil Conspiracy (state common law) 

 

91. Plaintiff incorporates all the prior averments in the previous paragraphs as if fully 

set forth herein.  

92. The individual defendants’ joint acts as averred in Counts 7 and 8 of this 

Complaint, constituted a civil conspiracy against Plaintiff.  

 93. The individual defendants’ conduct was the direct and proximate cause of 

Plaintiff’s injuries both physical and mental, needless suffering, and loss of enjoyment of life.  

 94. Plaintiff sues the individual defendants under this Count. 

Count Ten: 

Malicious Prosecution (state common law) 

 

95. Plaintiff incorporates all the prior averments in the previous paragraphs as if fully 

set forth herein.  

96. Dyer brought the criminal charges against the Plaintiff without probable cause 

and only to provide cover for his unlawful actions against the Plaintiff.  

97. Dyer’s perjured affidavit lent to the criminal charge brought against the Plaintiff.  

98. No reasonable officer would act in such a manner.  

99. Dyer’s charge against the Plaintiff was dismissed without conditions. 

100. Dyer’s malicious actions in this count was the direct and proximate cause of 

Plaintiff’s injuries both physical and mental, needless suffering, and required Plaintiff to incur 

the cost of a criminal defense.  

WHEREFORE, the Plaintiff demands judgment against the Defendants and requests the 

following relief: 
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a. The omissions of the City constituted willful and wanton indifference to and with 

deliberate disregard for the constitutional civil rights of the Plaintiff. Thus, as to the City the 

Plaintiff is entitled to actual damages, and attorney fees pursuant to 42. U.S.C. §1988.  

b. The individual defendants committed their acts against Plaintiff with actual 

malice toward the Plaintiff and with willful and wanton indifference to and with deliberate 

disregard for the constitutional civil rights of the Plaintiff. Thus, as to the individual defendants, 

Plaintiff is entitled to punitive damages, actual damages, and attorney fees pursuant to 42. U.S.C. 

§1988.  

c.  Plaintiff prays the Court to enter judgment against the Defendants and to award 

Plaintiff compensatory damages in the amount of TWO HUNDRED AND FIFTY THOUSAND 

DOLLARS ($250,000), and to award said damages joint and several.  

d. Plaintiff prays the Court to enter judgment against the individual defendants and 

to award Plaintiff punitive damages in the amount of FIVE HUNDRED THOUSAND 

DOLLARS ($500,000), and to award said damages joint and several.  

e. Plaintiff prays the Court award costs, and discretionary costs. 

f. Plaintiff prays for any other relief the Court may deem fit and proper.  

g. Plaintiff prays for any other relief the Court may deem fit and proper pursuant to 

42 U.S.C. § 1988, and 

h. Allow a jury trial on all issues. 

    Respectfully submitted, 
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    By: /s/ Robin Ruben Flores 
     ROBIN RUBEN FLORES 

     TENN. BPR #20751 

     GA. STATE BAR #200745 

      Attorney for Plaintiff 

      4110-A Brainerd Road 

      Chattanooga, TN  37411 

      (423) 267-1575 

      robin@robinfloreslaw.com 

 

Certificate of Service 

 

I certify that I have delivered a copy of this Amended Complaint to all counsel/persons noted on 

the electronic filing receipt and so delivered on the date shown on the same receipt.  

   

    By: /s/ Robin Ruben Flores 
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